CORRECTIONAL SERVICE CANADA

CHANGING LIVES. PROTECTING CANADIANS.



RESEARCH REPORT

Virtual Correctional Program Delivery: A Literature Review

2023 Nº R-468

ISBN: 978-0-660-68107-8 Cat. No.: PS83-3/468E-PDF

Ce rapport est également disponible en français. Pour en obtenir un exemplaire, veuillez vous adresser à la Direction de la recherche, Service correctionnel du Canada, 340, avenue Laurier Ouest, Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0P9.

This report is also available in French. Should additional copies be required, they can be obtained from the Research Branch, Correctional Service of Canada, 340 Laurier Ave. West, Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0P9.



Virtual Correctional Program Delivery: A Literature Review Daniella Filoso Megis Oskalns Mansanga Tanga & Kayla Wanamaker Correctional Service of Canada 2023

Acknowledgements

Thank you to Andrea Moser and Sara Johnson for your thorough reviews of the report. We would like to thank Meagan Smith and Corey Unger for their support on this project, as well as feedback on the report. Thank you also to Nikki Kellermann-Lowe and Annie Brisson for their assistance and engagement on earlier drafts of this project.

Executive Summary

Key words: virtual, corrections, program delivery, online learning, videoconferencing, teleconferencing, virtual reality.

The Correctional Service of Canada (CSC) delivers in-person correctional programs to target offenders' criminogenic need areas. However, the COVID-19 pandemic acted as a catalyst to examine how these programs are delivered. To help inform the shift from delivering programs completely in-person to integrating the delivery of virtual correctional programming, the current literature review sought to answer three research questions:

- (1) What is virtual correctional program delivery and what are the various formats it takes?
- (2) What are the potential benefits and drawbacks of delivering correctional programs virtually?
- (3) What are the principles of effective virtual delivery to a diverse offender population?

In order to answer these research questions, a comprehensive search of various databases, including JSTOR, Scholars Portal, ProQuest, PsycINFO, Criminal Justice Abstracts, government correctional agencies, and Google Scholar was conducted.

Our review of the literature indicated that virtual correctional program delivery (VCPD) is the incorporation of technology to replace or supplement the delivery of traditional classroom-based, face-to-face correctional programs. Furthermore, VCPD can be delivered via three methods: online learning platforms/pre-recorded lectures, teleconferencing and/or videoconferencing, and virtual reality (VR) technology. The limited amount of research in this area indicated that these delivery formats have produced equal effectiveness when compared to – and in some instances, greater effectiveness when *supplemented* with – traditional, in-person delivery formats.

Identified benefits of VCPD include tailoring programs towards offenders' unique learning styles, increasing access to and timely completion of programming, and assisting in the development of technology literacy, among others. However, potential drawbacks also need to be considered, such as security considerations, active program participation, and potential challenges with adequately addressing responsivity concerns.

Virtual correctional program delivery – like traditional, in-person program delivery – should follow the principles of risk, need, and responsivity (RNR). Additional principles of effective virtual delivery to diverse offender populations include ensuring that the material is accessible to all participants (e.g., using plain language, clean and organized slides, etc.) and promoting aspects of social interaction that might not come as naturally in virtual settings.

Overall, the emerging literature in this area provides promising evidence to support CSC's implementation of technology in its correctional programs.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgementsii
Executive Summaryiii
Table of Contentsv
Introduction
Current Review
Method
Results5
What is virtual correctional program delivery and what formats does it take?
Use of pre-recorded lessons and online learning
Use of teleconferencing and videoconferencing
Use of virtual reality technology
Benefits and drawbacks of delivering correctional programs virtually
Potential benefits of delivering correctional programs virtually
Potential drawbacks of delivering correctional programs virtually21
How do correctional programs delivered virtually compare to in-person correctional
programs?30
What are the principles of effective virtual delivery to a diverse offender population? 31
Individualized intervention planning
General guidelines and best practices for virtual training
Limitations
Conclusion
References

Introduction

In the Correctional Service of Canada (CSC), correctional programs are prioritized as a means of reducing recidivism and returns to custody while ensuring the safety of Canadian communities (CSC, 2021a). Correctional programs are structured interventions that target risk factors associated with criminal behaviour, teach skills for managing risk factors for crime, assist incarcerated individuals in understanding that they are accountable for their criminal behaviour, and help change criminal attitudes. Correctional programs at CSC are based on the risk, need, and responsivity (RNR) principles, which serve to effectively lower the risk of reoffending (Bonta & Andrews, 2017; CSC, 2021a). The programs adhere to the RNR principles in terms of:

- 1) delivering more intensive interventions (in terms of frequency and duration) to individuals assessed at higher risk to reoffend (Risk Principle);
- 2) prioritizing the treatment of criminogenic needs, such as attitudes, that have an empirical relationship with criminal behaviour (Need Principle); and,
- 3) employing cognitive-behavioural and social learning treatment approaches that are tailored to individuals' unique learning styles, as well as tailoring interventions to individuals' needs or characteristics to match their learning style, abilities, and motivation level (Responsivity Principle).

To respond to individuals' diverse risk and needs, CSC offers the Integrated Correctional Program Model (ICPM) for men, the Women Offender Correctional Program (WOCP) for women, and various culturally-relevant Indigenous program streams within the ICPM and WOCP program continuums for Indigenous men, Indigenous women, and Inuit men. There is also the Adapted Multi-Target stream which is used for offenders with deficits in functioning that may interfere with their ability to engage in traditional correctional programming. These deficits in functioning may include (but are not limited to) cognitive impairments, mental health concerns, and learning disabilities.

Correctional programs are primarily provided in-person by Correctional Program Officers (CPOs) or Indigenous Correctional Program Officers (ICPOs), are paper-based, and are delivered in groups (depending on the program, a program session could have a maximum group size of 6 to 12 participants). However, the COVID-19 pandemic prompted a shift in how correctional programs were delivered to CSC's incarcerated population. In particular, within

CSC, the delivery of correctional programs had been suspended during the pandemic as part of COVID-19 containment efforts since current program formats relied heavily on in-person and group formats, making it difficult for program officers and participants to comply with public health physical distancing requirements (CSC, 2022a). Furthermore, in some cases, program delivery may be unavailable or inaccessible to select offender groups in smaller and more remote institutions. Circumstances like these may have hindered offenders' ability to follow their correctional plan, which may have affected their rehabilitation and release dates. In fact, the Parole Board of Canada (PBC) has recently noticed a decrease in the percentage of offenders who complete their correctional program before their day parole eligibility date (DPED). In 2019-2020, approximately 50% of offenders completed correctional programming before going before the PBC; however, in 2020-2021, only 36% had completed programming before their DPED (Davidson, 2023).

CSC's Offender Programs and Reintegration (OPR) Branch is currently exploring ways to leverage virtual service delivery in order to reduce barriers to the provision of interventions and services, including correctional programs. The Virtual Correctional Program Delivery (VCPD) project aims to transform the traditional classroom-based, face-to-face correctional program delivery by introducing instructor-led training through video interaction with small groups of offenders, while leveraging existing technology and tools within institutions (e.g., classrooms, libraries, staff offices or meeting rooms; CSC, 2022b). Ultimately, this adaptive approach will help to ensure that correctional programs can continue to be offered and delivered in a virtual format despite any disruptions, such as the need to social distance. Additionally, this adaptive approach will help to expand program availability at smaller institutions, enabling incarcerated individuals to continue following their correctional plan and prepare for release.

Current Review

The purpose of this literature review is to summarize existing academic and grey literature on virtual program delivery within correctional settings to provide OPR additional information to assess the viability and potential effectiveness of using virtual program delivery for institutional correctional programs. Specifically, a discussion of the potential benefits of the availability of virtual correctional program delivery, as well as the principles of effective virtual delivery of correctional programs to a diverse offender population will be provided. A preliminary environmental scan revealed that literature on the virtual delivery of correctional

reintegration programs is scant. As a result, literature in related areas will be reviewed in order to explain the benefits and principles of effective virtual correctional program delivery, which may include approaches to developing and retaining the therapeutic alliance, as well as addressing and responding to criminogenic risk, needs, and responsivity. This will include a broad overview of virtual reality applications for individuals with intellectual/learning disabilities, mental health disorders, substance use disorders, cognitive behavioural therapy, and/or requiring cultural adaptation. The results will help OPR further define next steps, including guidelines and best practices to enhance correctional practices and virtual program delivery.

The research questions to be answered are as follows:

- 1. What is virtual correctional program delivery and what are the various formats that it takes?
 - a. What technology has been used to deliver correctional programs virtually to offenders in institution?
- 2. What are the potential benefits and drawbacks of delivering correctional programs virtually?
 - a. How do virtual correctional program delivery compare to in-person correctional programs?
- 3. What are the principles of effective virtual delivery to a diverse offender population?

Method

In order to identify material for this literature review, we conducted a search of several databases and search engines, including JSTOR, Scholars Portal, ProQuest, PsycINFO, Criminal Justice Abstracts, government correctional agencies, and Google Scholar. However, an initial search for studies and documents that focused on the virtual delivery of correctional programs in institutions yielded limited results. As such, the search parameters were broadened. A number of research areas were searched, including: (1) virtual educational program delivery (distance learning and education), (2) computerized substance use treatment, (3) virtual health services (e.g., tele- and videoconferencing in offender intervention programs, telehealth), (4) computerized cognitive behavioural therapy, and (5) virtual reality therapies. Keywords used to identify literature for the review included "virtual correctional programs," "virtual learning," "virtual education program", "computer-based learning", "web-based learning", "teleconference", "videoconference", "online learning", "virtual reality", and "computerized cognitive behavioural therapy" alone and in combination with the terms "inmate", "offender", "incarcerated", "prison", "correctional institution" or "penitentiary." To supplement selected literature and documents from the databases, additional relevant literature from the reference sections were examined and used. An in-depth content analysis was conducted to identify information and themes in the literature that responded to our research questions.

Results

What is virtual correctional program delivery and what formats does it take?

Broadly, virtual correctional program delivery (VCPD) is the incorporation of technology to replace or supplement the delivery of traditional classroom-based, face-to-face correctional programs to individuals in custody, ensuring offenders' timely access and completion of programs prior to their release (Wardrop & Sheahan, 2019). The virtual delivery of programs can include the use of web-based learning, teleconferencing, videoconferencing, computer and virtual reality technology, or a combination of methods with small groups of offenders, while also capitalizing on existing resources already in place within the institutions, such as classrooms, libraries, staff offices, or meeting rooms (CSC, 2022b; His Majesty's Prison and Probation Service [HMPPS], 2020; Wardrop & Sheahan, 2019). This can also include the use of secure, facility-issued tablets or laptops remotely or in meeting rooms/classrooms to gain access to internet-based platforms like Zoom and breakout rooms (Collica-Cox, 2022), or web-based educational platforms (e-learning) with access to program content like pre-recorded lessons, resources, and self-paced activities for asynchronous learning (Tolbert et al., 2015). Program participants may also be given e-readers with educational content or may take part in a traditional lecture-based course with the use of Smart Televisions to facilitate distant learning (Collica-Cox, 2022). However, for a single participant in need of programming, audio (telephone) or videoconferencing software can be used to deliver program contents (HMPPS, 2020). Lastly, programs can incorporate virtual reality (VR) technology to supplement learning (Algahtani et al., 2017).

It is important to acknowledge that alternative program delivery formats (e.g., web-based, videoconferencing) do not aim to change the integrity or the goals of a program. Instead, they are intended to provide flexibility in program access. Where possible, in-person delivery is expected to be the primary delivery format and alternatives are to be considered only if in-person programming cannot be achieved. Furthermore, if alternative program delivery formats are selected, it is strongly advised that face-to-face methods be used to complement alternative program delivery where possible (HMPPS, 2020).

There are essentially three ways identified in the literature in which programs can be delivered virtually. The first is the use of pre-recorded lessons and online learning, which are the least interactive types of delivery methods whereby the participant watches a pre-recorded lesson

or partakes in a lesson that is delivered through an online platform, often self-paced. These delivery methods limit interactions with others and the immediate support provided by training staff (i.e., no one present to answer questions on the spot) and, as a result, it may be difficult to monitor offender progress and retention of key constructs. Ensuring that individual responsivity factors are considered may also be challenging in this environment. However, from an operational perspective, these methods of program delivery are easy to facilitate, do not require many resources, and can assist with or supplement the completion of programming in a timely fashion.

This is similar to delivering programs in a face-to-face setting, except that participants are either on a conference call (voice-only) or a video call, and are not sitting in the same room. In many cases of teleconferencing and/or videoconferencing, limited changes to programming are needed. That is, programming can still be facilitated by programming staff, group discussions can still occur, and program activities can still be utilized but may need to be refined for an online setting, such as the use of breakout rooms on a videotelephony software program (e.g. Zoom or Microsoft Teams) for group discussions. The main concern is that participants will require access to a computer and an adequate internet connection that also meets required security parameters.

The third delivery method that can be used is virtual reality (VR). VR delivery can be classified into 3 groups: immersive, non-immersive, and semi-immersive (augmented reality). These groups are distinguished based on their use of various physical technology tools such as the use of a head-mounted display, motion-recognition gloves, computer monitor, speakers and/or headphones (Alqahtani et al., 2017). One example of this technology is 360-degree, or immersive video. These are recorded using an omnidirectional camera which allow students to control the viewing direction and often includes a panorama (Smith, 2021). Augmented reality has been used for teaching students who are deaf, as well as teaching geometry, Indonesian sign language (SIBI), and enhancing learning with visuals and animation (Aditama et al., 2021; LiantoBuliani, 2021; Rusli & Ibrahim). Although limited research has focused on the use of VR in correctional settings, it has been suggested that in-class correctional programming (or videoconferencing) can be used in collaboration with VR technology. An advantage of VR is that it can be used to resemble role-playing activities in real-world settings to enhance various skills. However, research on VR in correctional settings is in its infancy.

Use of pre-recorded lessons and online learning

Pre-recorded lessons and online learning platforms had been used to deliver educational programming long before the COVID-19 pandemic. For example, in one study by Hagdu et al. (2016), exam scores among physiology students were compared between those who were enrolled in an asynchronous course (delivered via pre-recorded lectures) and those enrolled in a traditional live lecture. They found no significant differences in student performance between the two groups, indicating that pre-recorded lectures can be equally as effective as traditional live lessons. This pattern of equal educational outcomes appears to be relatively consistent across different educational contexts (Bos et al., 2016; Chirikov et al., 2020; Nilaad et al., 2022), and in some cases, asynchronous learning actually produces superior outcomes (e.g., Northey et al., 2015). Furthermore, evidence suggests that students who enrol in self-directed, pre-recorded lectures perceive their performance as equal to their in-person classmates (Topale, 2016). Overall, it appears as though pre-recorded lessons and online learning do not impair educational outcomes. Accordingly, it is likely that virtual correctional program delivery would also produce similar outcomes when compared to traditional program delivery; the next section focuses on the extant literature in this area.

Use of pre-recorded lessons and online learning with offender populations

Pre-recorded lessons and online learning have shown promising results among different offender populations. For example, the Motivational Assessment Program to Initiate Treatment (MAPIT) in the United States is a web-based intervention that aims to encourage people who use drugs to initiate treatment for their drug use (Walters et al., 2014). MAPIT consists of two 45-minute modules that target (1) substance use treatment initiation and engagement, (2) probation and future criminal involvement, and (3) human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) testing and other substance use-related care. Criminal justice clients involved in the pilot testing of MAPIT had positive feedback, including that the program was formatted well, it was personally accurate for their substance use needs, and that they felt the skills learned would be useful upon release.

Another computer-based intervention for people who use drugs is the Breaking Free Online (BFO) Health and Justice Program (Elison-Davies et al., 2023). The BFO program was piloted in an adult-male prison in the United Kingdom and aims to reduce drug and alcohol consumption and dependence. The program is based in cognitive-behavioural principles including mindfulness-based relapse prevention. BFO participants first complete the Recovery

Progression Measure (RPM; Elison et al., 2016), a psychometric assessment that examines functioning across six different domains (e.g., negative thoughts, emotional impact). Based on the RPM scores in each domain, participants are then given tailored intervention guides and strategies which include (but are not limited to) managing risky situations, understanding negative thoughts and emotions, and general information on alcohol and drugs (Elison-Davies et al., 2023). Research on BFO has found that, among participants who completed the program, quality of life scores improved, and severity of substance dependence and biopsychosocial impairment decreased post program completion (Garvey et al., 2021). Overall, the BFO program provides promising evidence regarding computer-based program delivery among offenders who abuse substances.

A similar intervention has been developed for offenders with convictions for drinking and driving in Australia. The Steering Clear program is a five module intervention that is delivered online – using a computer or mobile device – over the course of two hours. The goal of Steering Clear is to assist first time offenders of drinking and driving with becoming aware of their behaviours and ultimately prevent alcohol-related re-offences. Pilot testing of this program by Wilson et al. (2017) showed high endorsement for the program being easy to navigate, engaging, straightforward, and useful in real-life settings. Interestingly, there was also high endorsement among program participants with regards to the program being delivered online. That is, 93.3% of program participants preferred the online delivery over a face-to-face intervention.

There is a considerable amount of research on the use of online learning as a delivery method for male intimate partner violence (IPV) offenders. For example, the Journey to Change is a three-session computerized intervention that identifies the most common intervention practices for IPV offenders attending court-mandated batterer treatment and integrates these practices with the transtheoretical model of behavioural change (Prochaska & DiClemente, 1983). In one study by Levesque et al. (2012), participants were assigned to participate in usual care only or usual care along with Journey to Change. Results indicated that, when compared to those who participated in usual care only, participants who participated in both usual care and Journey to Change were significantly more likely to be in the "action" stage of the transtheoretical model and were significantly less likely to engage in physical violence during a 12-month follow-up period. The results of Journey to Change indicate that online methods of program delivery can be effective among male IPV offenders, especially when delivered

alongside additional programming.

While the above-mentioned programs were implemented prior to the COVID-19 pandemic and focused on incarcerated offenders and offenders who were on community supervision, more detention centres began using online learning at the onset of the pandemic to help simulate classroom learning (Hager, 2020; Hutwagner, 2021). One such example is CSC's Digital Education Pilot Project (DEPP) at the Joyceville and Bath Institutions¹, which brings technology into the classroom so that offenders (1) have greater opportunities to access learning materials and (2) become more technologically competent in advance of community release (i.e., gain foundational computer skills needed for increasing literacy levels; CSC, 2020). Specifically, the DEPP provides offenders with access to computers while they are participating in an education program within the classroom. These computers are connected to a controlled cloudbased learning management system (LMS; CSC, 2021b) with restricted internet access that enables online and blended learning. Students access their course materials on the digital platform and learn independently with the support of a teacher who provides guidance and promotes a collaborative learning environment. Currently, the DEPP offers grade 11 and 12 English and Math and can be modified/updated in real-time to better meet the needs of diverse offenders (i.e., Indigenous offenders, offenders with mental health and/or learning disabilities, etc.; CSC, 2020). Like all other methods of online learning for offender populations, more information is needed on the effectiveness of the DEPP; however, the implementation of this project "will be a key component in enhancing offender digital and computer literacy skills, which will in turn support offenders seeking employment opportunities in the community" (CSC, 2020, para. 6).

Overall, research in the area of virtual correctional program delivery demonstrates that pre-recorded lectures and online learning platforms are effective methods of delivering programming to offender populations, namely offenders who use substances (Garvey et al., 2021; Walters et al., 2014; Wilson et al., 2017) and those who perpetrate IPV (Levesque et al., 2012). Further research is required to assess the effectiveness of pre-recorded lectures and online learning among offenders in prison settings, diverse offender populations (e.g., Indigenous

¹ Note: Although the Digital Education Pilot Project was implemented at the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, it was in development prior to the pandemic.

offenders, women offenders), offenders with specific criminogenic needs (i.e., criminal attitudes, associates, education/employment, etc.), and offenders with specific responsivity profiles (e.g., offenders with learning disabilities, psychiatric disorders, etc.), as this method of program delivery might not be effective for everyone. The next section focuses on an alternative method of virtual correctional program delivery – teleconferencing and videoconferencing.

Use of teleconferencing and videoconferencing

With the COVID-19 pandemic, there was a significant increase in the use of teleconferencing and videoconferencing technology for a variety of purposes including conducting work meetings, family and friend gatherings, education, visits to health care professionals, and various types of programming. Indeed, previous research has shown that teleand videoconferencing are acceptable methods of facilitating education, mental health care, and substance use treatment. For example, synchronous, online, and instructor-led courses have yielded equal levels of educational performance among university students when compared to traditional face-to-face learning (Francescucci & Rohani, 2019). Similarly, cognitive behavioural therapies have been delivered via a computer interface or over the phone for individuals experiencing depression, anxiety, and obsessive-compulsive and phobic disorders (Kaltenthaler et al., 2004). Systemic reviews of mental health care treatment delivered via tele- and videoconferencing have found that both treatment options can reduce symptoms and are perceived as non-inferior when compared to face-to-face care (Chen et al., 2022). With regards to substance use, one randomized trial by King et al. (2014) compared counselling services for people participating in an opioid treatment program using the videoconferencing platform 'eGetgoing' to those who participated in person. Following a 12-week treatment period, they found that participants in both study groups had similar rates of drug-positive urinalysis tests and strong ratings of treatment satisfaction. Taken together, previous literature indicates that teleconferencing and videoconferencing are effective and reliable ways of delivering education, mental health care, and substance use treatment. As such, it is reasonable to predict that similar patterns of results would be observed among offender populations who receive correctional programming. In the next section, we turn to the available literature in this area to highlight how teleconferencing and videoconferencing have been used to deliver programming to individuals involved with the criminal justice system.

Use of teleconferencing and videoconferencing with offender populations

Videoconferencing has previously been utilized for incarcerated persons living with human immunodeficiency viruses (HIV). While incarcerated offenders living with HIV receive ample amounts of care for engagement and antiretroviral therapy adherence, this care declines after release from an institution (Brantley et al., 2019). To prevent a decline in care post-release, Brantley et al. (2019) identified people who were due to be released from prison within 180 days or less and were seeking a referral to an HIV/AIDS treatment program. Based on this inclusion criteria, 238 offenders with HIV were offered a videoconference with their case managers while incarcerated in a Louisiana prison. Among the 238 enrolled, 144 offenders successfully received a videoconference in time for their release; 94 did not. During the videoconferences, the offender worked with their case manager to capture their short- and long-term medical, financial, and social needs. In addition, offenders and case managers discussed strategies for locating and securing necessities, such as housing, clothing, and transportation. Overall, this study found that, among the 144 participants who received a videoconference, 74.3% (n = 107) were connected with HIV medical care within 90 days after their release from prison, highlighting the usefulness of videoconferencing with offenders who have specific health needs.

Previous literature has also demonstrated that virtual methods can be used among forensic mental health patients. More specifically, a paper by Sullivan et al. (2008) highlights the different ways in which Australia's Department for Correctional Services uses tele- and videoconferencing for justice-involved people with mental health issues. They highlight that virtual methods for justice delivery are often used for the purpose of conducting risk assessments and treatment delivery, as well as providing feedback, expert testimony, education, and interservice planning. Australia's use of videoconferencing provides a connection to remote prisons, courts, and psychiatric clinics (Sullivan et al., 2008), thus allowing for a wide variety of correctional programming to be delivered to offenders in different contexts.

Another example is the "Thinking for a Change" (TFAC) program, which provides offenders with a cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) curriculum that emphasizes the relationship between thoughts and actions, focuses on training pro-social skills and cognitive restructuring, and encourages alternative problem-solving methods (Golden et al., 2006; Lipsey et al., 2007). TFAC has been delivered in different ways, including having inmates co-facilitate the program and having staff lead the program in a more traditional delivery method. In an effort

to find more ways to deliver TFAC to offenders, LaPlant et al. (2021) examined the effectiveness of the program via videoconferencing. They recruited participants in high- and medium/low-security institutions in the state of Ohio who were on a waiting list for the program and prioritized those who were high-risk and had a criminogenic need for criminal thinking. The Social Problem Solving Inventory—Revised (SPSI-R; D'Zurilla et al., 2002), a measure of problem solving abilities and dysfunctional attitudes, was administered to offenders before and after completing the TFAC program via videoconference. LaPlant et al. found a significant increase in scores on the SPSI-R once treatment was complete, indicating a positive growth in problem solving skills. These findings show support for videoconferencing as a treatment delivery method among high-risk offenders with a need in relation to their criminal thinking.

Similarly, research has also demonstrated that program delivery via teleconferencing can be an effective approach for juvenile probationers. More specifically, research has been conducted on RealVictory, which is an American program that aims to reinforce goal setting and CBT concepts that were learned prior to community release (Burraston et al., 2012). For this program, once in the community, juvenile participants receive two automated calls every day that ask three questions: (1) Have you followed the rules of probation since your previous phone call? (2) How much effort have you put forth to accomplish one of the steps towards your probation goal? and (3) Have you produced any results, and if so, what are they? Responses are then provided using the keypad on their cellphones. If RealVictory participants indicate that they have made progress toward their probation goal, they hear a pre-recorded message of positive affirmation from a family member, friend, or another person of their choosing. If behavioural correction is required, a message of encouragement is played. Finally, if participants lose hope regarding their goal, or abandon their goal, they are asked to record why they think this occurred. Results from Burraston et al.'s program showed that nearly half (46.4%) of the RealVictory participants were not re-arrested over a one-year follow up period, compared to only 9.7% of the control group who were not re-arrested over a one-year follow-up period. Furthermore, among the RealVictory participants who were re-arrested, the first arrest tended to occur towards the latter part of the one-year follow up (median time to first re-arrest = 278 days) in comparison to the control group, whose median time to first arrest was 106 days. These findings indicate that use of a teleconference intervention can be effective for juvenile offenders in the short term. Further research would be required to determine whether this type of teleconferencing treatment

would be effective for adult offenders of different risk levels and criminogenic needs.

Overall, the existing literature on tele- and videoconferencing among offender populations yields promising results. This type of virtual correctional program delivery yields successful community and behavioural outcomes, even when compared to more "traditional" methods of correctional program delivery. However, further research on the effectiveness of teleconferencing and videoconferencing for treating specific risk factors (e.g., substance use, attitudes, education and employment), for use with diverse offender populations (e.g., women offenders, Indigenous offenders), and for use with offenders with different responsivity profiles (e.g., offenders with unique mental health needs, such as psychiatric disorders) would be beneficial. Furthermore, much of the extant literature in this area has been conducted in the community; therefore, additional research in prisons with different security parameters would also be beneficial.

Use of virtual reality technology

A variety of interventions use computer-simulated learning (CSL) technology, whereby a program is accessed via a desktop computer or tablet and the user interacts only with the software. The CSL technology is different from videogames as its simulation training programs teach the user different skills to apply to specific real world situations. In the simulation, users have a limited set of actions that they can take in order to complete a task and the situations change based on the actions that were taken by the user. One example is the Reactions on Display/Intimate Partner Violence (RoD/IPV) program, which is a program delivered using a computerized simulation technology that aims to facilitate change among men who are on probation for an IPV offence by allowing participants to practice non-violent reactions during a "typical" IPV incident (Sygel et al., 2014). Alongside the computerized portion of RoD/IPV, participants use visual cues and written text to reflect upon the feelings, thoughts, actions, and consequences that occur during the mock IPV incidents (Sygel et al., 2014). A pilot study revealed that RoD/IPV was well received and understood by program participants. Further, when it was supplemented with additional group-session IPV interventions (i.e., the Integrated Domestic Abuse Programme; IDAP), RoD/IPV participants chose less violent reactions during the computer simulation and showed significantly better interpretation of the simulated characters' emotions when compared to incarcerated participants who did not complete the IDAP supplement.

The CSL content, however, is often limited to the specific skills being taught and is geared towards specific goals (Ticknor, 2019). In contrast, intervention programs such as various drug and alcohol interventions, behaviour training, emotion recognition training, and aggression prevention therapy, use VR technology for delivery (Segawa et al., 2020; Seinfeld et al., 2018; Tuente et al., 2018). The VR used in these types of intervention programs is similar to the CSL technology, except that the user is not as restricted to specific decisions or actions. The virtual worlds and environments are typically much larger than those depicted in a videogame or specific CSL session (Ticknor, 2019) and can be multi-sensory, using visual, auditory and olfactory stimuli (Segawa et al., 2020).

One area that has commonly used VR has been addiction treatment programs. For example, a systematic review of 37 studies examined the use of VR technology in the assessment and treatment of substance use disorders and behaviour addictions and found that VR has been applied to treatment programs for smoking, alcohol, cocaine, cannabis, opioids, tobacco, nicotine, and methamphetamine, as well as for gaming and gambling (Segawa et al., 2020). In these instances, treatments use VR in conjunction with a variety of other forms of technology including functional Magnetic Resonance Imagining (fMRI) to measure prefrontal cortex activity, eye-tracking for cue sensitivity, skin conductance, heart rate, and body temperature. Given that the primary treatment focus for these addiction programs has been on cue reactivity, VR environments are well suited to these types of treatments because it uses multisensory cues such as visual, auditory and olfactory stimuli. For instance, for smoking interventions, there are several environmental cues², which include complex cues (e.g., exposure to smokers at a party or pub), proximal cues (e.g., exposure to lighter, ashtray, etc.), and contextual cues (e.g., being placed at a party, convenience store, etc.) that could induce cravings. Within the VR world, the contextual cues could include social pressure to smoke from an avatar, whereas proximal cues could include a pack of cigarettes on a counter. Furthermore, this systemic review found that VR for alcohol addiction used various cues to assist with managing cravings (Segawa et al., 2020). For example, cues that induced cravings for alcohol consumption included a bottle of alcohol

_

² Environmental cues can be classified as proximal cues, which are the most frequent type, often visual. There are also contextual cues, which refer specifically to the environment or context, with or without social interactions. Finally, there are complex cues which is a combination of proximal and contextual cues to provide a more complete picture.

(proximal cue), a bar (contextual cue), and a party with alcohol (complex cue). It is important to note that these examples of VR used within substance use and alcohol treatment programs are not specific to correctional settings or populations involved in the criminal justice system. However, it is possible that these techniques can be used to address substance use needs among those in custody or perhaps can be applied to other types of problematic behaviour including aggression, anger management, and impulsivity.

Use of virtual reality technology within offender populations

The use of VR technology within correctional settings has been limited. However, one study conducted by Seinfeld et al. (2018) examined the impact of perspective taking and empathy on emotion recognition among men who were convicted of a violent act against a woman. The sample were comprised of men in the community who were sentenced to attend an intervention program targeting domestic violence. This study used VR exposure as a way for offenders of domestic violence to experience domestic abuse from the point-of view of a female victim, with the goal of increasing the offenders' ability to recognize emotions. The results indicated that experiencing virtual domestic abuse from the perspective of a female victim can positively increase domestic offenders' sensitivity to recognize fear in facial expressions and can reduce domestic offenders' misclassification of facial expressions (e.g., no longer classifying facial expression as happiness rather than fear in fearful situations). Overall, these findings support the idea that experiencing different perspectives to one's own through VR technology can influence an individuals' perceptions, attitudes, and behaviours.

VR technology is also being examined within correctional settings to assist with targeting aggressive behaviour. For example, Virtual Reality Aggression Prevention Therapy (VRAPT; Tuente et al., 2018) is currently being tested through pilot studies in forensic settings to teach deescalation to offenders with aggressive behaviour. This program aims to teach skills pertaining to self-control, impulsivity, and hostility, and the main goal is to increase participants' awareness of their aggressive tendencies and improve control over their aggression through social interactions in virtual environments (González Moraga et al., 2022). In these virtual environments, both settings and avatars are controlled by supervising therapists using voice morphing microphones. In these settings, offenders are faced with challenging behaviour from virtual characters and must apply de-escalating techniques and/or skills. Overall, this training involves the use of cue reactivity (i.e., a type of learned response) which includes responding behaviour,

psychophysiological responses, as well as the offender's galvanic skin response and real-time heart rate to measure arousal (Tuente et al., 2018).

Tuente et al. (2020) conducted a recent treatment outcome study examining the effectiveness of VRAPT on aggressive behaviour among forensic psychiatric inpatients in the Netherlands. The VRAPT consisted of 16 individual bi-weekly sessions that were approximately one hour in length and consisted of VR exercises to practice new behavioural skills. More specifically, the VRAPT allowed patients to practice (1) coping with their aggression in an adequate manner, (2) recognizing others' emotions, (3) rating the level of aggression of virtual characters' behaviours, and (4) reacting to situations in an appropriate manner (Tuente et al., 2020). Their findings revealed that participants self-reported a significant improvement in their hostility, anger control, and non-planning impulsiveness after completing VRAPT; however, these improvements were not maintained at the 3-month follow-up. As such, the results suggest that VRAPT does not decrease aggressive behaviour in forensic inpatients over time but does temporarily impact anger control skills, impulsivity, and hostility. More research is needed looking at varying levels of participation in VRAPT with increased frequency of participation across longer time periods.

Furthermore, VR technology has been used in correctional settings to teach inmates about life skills that can help them to succeed outside of correctional institutions upon release. Specifically, these types of programs³ target those who were convicted as youth and aim to expose them to the various changes and technological advancements made in society over the past 20 years (Melnick, 2018). The VR technology includes the use of 360-videos to mimic a variety of everyday situations and can educate inmates on different important life skills including how to use a debit card, grocery shopping and using self-checkout at the grocery store, and doing laundry (Melnick, 2018). However, this technology has also been used to assist inmates with learning skills on how to de-escalate potential violent/aggressive confrontations. It is expected that in participating in this VR program, inmates, especially those who were incarcerated in their youth/early adulthood, will be released into community with knowledge of everyday life skills that can contribute to successful outcomes, although more research is needed examining the

⁻

³ Note that while these programs are offered within correctional institutions, these programs are not 'correctional programs' as defined by CSC as they do not target the risk and need areas related to criminal behaviour.

outcomes of these types of programs.

Benefits and drawbacks of delivering correctional programs virtually

Limited research exists on virtual correctional program delivery, with research more commonly focused on the virtual delivery of substance use treatment, health services, and distance education learning (Wardrop & Sheahan, 2019). Nevertheless, there are different advantages and disadvantages to using virtual delivery for treatment and interventions. First, the potential benefits of delivering correctional programming virtually will be explored followed by potential drawbacks, which includes a discussion around use of pre-recorded sessions, online training platforms, use of teleconferencing and videoconferencing, and use of VR technology.

Potential benefits of delivering correctional programs virtually

Although limited research exists on the use of virtual correctional programming, a number of potential benefits can be inferred based on research conducted on virtual program delivery with non-offender populations:

1. Delivering correctional programs virtually can allow for programs to be tailored to individuals in order to meet their unique needs and match their individual learning style.

Educational research has demonstrated that learners are classified into four groups based on the VARK model—visual learners, aural/auditory learners, read-write learners, and kinesthetic learners (Fleming & Baume, 2006). Research conducted by El-Sabagh (2021) compared regular e-learning to an adaptive e-learning approach, based on these four learning groups, to examine student engagement, participation/interaction, skills, and performance. It was found that students who used an adapted e-learning approach performed better, indicating that customized learning materials are important for increasing students' engagement, participation/interaction, and skill attainment (El-Sabagh, 2021). As such, using technology can be beneficial for incorporating a variety of supplemental correctional programming activities, using a variety of different mediums to support different learning styles and aid offender learning of key concepts. Furthermore, online learning and technology can also supplement or complement in-class programming and learning, allowing for further study of key concepts in a different way, rather than used as the primary means to conduct programming.

Moreover, offenders may have a number of different/diverse criminogenic needs or different severity of needs to be addressed prior to their reintegration back into the community.

Through the use of technology, further support can be provided to offenders to help address their criminogenic needs. Accordingly, the use of both videoconferencing programs and VR could potentially assist with mitigating offender risk and developing skills to address criminogenic factors and risk level. Videoconferencing provides a means of teaching key concepts and VR technology provides a safe space for offenders to use and practice learned skills through simulated real world interactions (Cornet & Gelder, 2020). For example, VR has applications for sex offender treatment for deviant sexual behaviours and those who abuse children. In these situations, VR can be used to expose offenders to certain high-risk situations, and bring out disorder-relevant behaviour in high-risk situations without risking the safety of others. This can be applied to behaviour training for high-risk situations where VR environments can be adjusted to address individual criminogenic needs (Fromberger et al., 2018).

2. Delivering correctional programs virtually can assist with increasing access to and/or completion of programming.

Using technology to deliver correctional programming can prevent delays in offenders' access to programming. Specifically, access to programming via videoconferencing or through an online learning platform can allow for offenders to participate in programming without having to wait for the program to be offered within their institution. This is especially true (1) within smaller institutions – where programming may only be offered a few times per year when there are adequate numbers of offenders enrolled in the program – and (2) among offenders who require specialized programming (e.g., the Inuit Integrated Correctional Program Model (IICPM)) or programming in a different language to what is being offered (e.g., offender from Quebec requiring English programming; offender from the Pacific region requiring French programming). Virtual delivery of correctional programs could allow offenders to participate in programming through another institution (if conducted via videoconferencing) or even at their own leisure/pace through an online learning platform (e.g., e-learning). Having ways for offenders to access their correctional programming sooner can assist CSC with providing timely access to programming, ideally allowing offenders to complete their programming prior to their day parole eligibility date, and potentially leading to increases in program completion rates. For instance, a recent report by CSC on their video-programming pilot project (2019) suggests that video-programming enhances the timely delivery of programs and the successful reintegration of offenders into the community.

The expansion of program delivery provides greater opportunity for offenders to participate in correctional programming who may not normally have been able to attend programs due to security related factors. For example, providing programming to incompatibles, offenders in Structured Intervention Units, women offenders in Secure Units, or to offenders in the Special Handling Unit may be especially challenging and could potentially result in delays in program participation. Having the option of attending programs virtually or through an online learning platform would allow offenders to participate in programming from their cells or living environment, rather than in a face-to-face, group setting, which could pose a security risk. Using technology to deliver programs can also reduce the resources required to conduct programming on a one-on-one basis with offenders in these specific environments. Furthermore, it can allow for access to programs during health and other institutional crises. Although the COVID-19 pandemic is one example of a health crisis, there are others that can take place in correctional institutions, including tuberculosis outbreaks. There can also be security related lockdowns which may interfere with correctional programming, leading to delays. Having the ability to use virtual programming, in some capacity, would allow offenders to continue their participation in correctional programs and hopefully maintain motivation and engagement.

3. Delivering correctional programs virtually could enhance CSC's ability to provide culturally-based programs to Indigenous offenders.

A report from CSC (2019) suggests that videoconferencing can provide a link between two institutions, which would allow for timely access to Indigenous programs and assist with meeting the criminogenic and cultural needs of offenders. For example, given that there are Indigenous-specific streams of programming that incorporate culturally-relevant teachings and Indigenous Elders, it is beneficial for Indigenous offenders to have access to these programs. However, in institutions where the number of Indigenous offenders is small, it may not be possible to run Indigenous specific programming on a frequent basis. Nonetheless, the use of online learning or videoconferencing could prevent course disruptions due to low enrollment related to insufficient numbers of Indigenous people at one site. Although delivering correctional programs virtually can enhance the availability of Indigenous-specific programming for offenders, it is important to ensure that Elders maintain direct involvement in programming sessions. For example, as noted in a pilot study which used technology to deliver community-based correctional programming (Wardrop et al., 2022), it was found that Elders were not

routinely involved in programming sessions. Where feasible, Elders should be directly involved and consulted regarding their interest in the programs, and whether the programs are held in culturally appropriate mediums.

4. Once implemented, virtual correctional program delivery can assist with program officer/staff shortages, resource issues and allocations, and financial constraints.

Using technology to deliver correctional programming can effectively reduce costs and assist with staff resources over time, although there are initial costs associated with the initial implementation of such a model. For example, reducing inmate transfers for the purpose of accessing specialized resources diminish costs (as a result of minimizing lengthy and expensive transfers in secure transportation). Furthermore, using technology to deliver virtual programming, especially pre-recorded training, videoconferencing, and use of online platforms, can reduce the burden on staff resources, as well as reduce time allotted for program preparation and delivery. Online learning options and pre-recorded programming can be reviewed independently by the offender and reduces the need of correctional program officers to deliver the program each session. Alternatively, the use of videoconferencing can also maximize the number of offenders participating in programming at a given time, reducing the number of program sessions needed throughout the year and ensuring timely access. The use of technology of different forms is also cost effective and contributes to fiscal savings (Wardrop & Sheahan, 2019). In addition to being low in cost, technology-based and computer-administered interventions are beneficial as they require relatively little staff time and training to administer (Levesque et al., 2012). Overall, using technology to deliver programs may result in reductions in long-term human and financial resource allocations.

5. Virtual delivery of correctional programming can assist offenders with skills development to use upon community release.

Generally, technology can be used to assist offenders with the acquisition of important life skills that will be useful outside of an institutional setting, including financial management, skills to aid future employment (such as enhancing interview skills), and even strengthening familial relationships through the use of virtual visitation (McDougall et al., 2017). Although these types of activities are not directly related to correctional programming, incorporating aspects of development in these areas can further assist with rehabilitation efforts as they map onto multiple dynamic risk domains (e.g., family and marital, community functioning, and

employment). Given the unique environment within a correctional facility and restricted access to the internet and technology, using technology to deliver correctional programming specifically, can also aid in the development of technology and computer literacy, which are one of the top nine skills that employers seek, and can assist with both obtaining and maintaining employment (Employment and Social Development Canada, 2021). For individuals who have been incarcerated for long periods of time, learning these everyday skills (such as financial management and computer literacy) can promote independence and assist in building self-confidence around completing basic day-to-day tasks upon release into the community.

Potential drawbacks of delivering correctional programs virtually

Although there are several advantages to delivering programming virtually, there are also a number of potential drawbacks and challenges that may result from introducing the use of technology. The potential drawbacks, considerations, and challenges will be discussed in relation to the use of pre-recorded sessions, online training platforms, use of teleconferencing and videoconferencing, and use of VR technology.

1. Virtual delivery of correctional programming may lead to challenges with communication, engagement, and active participation.

Although there are a number of ways that virtual delivery of correctional programs may enhance the effectiveness of programming, there are also some considerations that need to be taken into account. First, in online environments (including videoconferencing and online learning platforms), there is a lack of direct social interaction with other offenders and with the program delivery officer(s), which could result in less engagement. Research conducted by Brosens et al. (2014) which examined the influence of social networks on participation among incarcerated offenders found that having more personal contact and enlarging one's social network were motivating factors for participation. As such, removing the social aspect from correctional programming (particularly when it comes to online learning platforms or prerecorded lessons) can potentially lead to reduced engagement and motivation. Ensuring participants are engaged and motivated are essential to programming because therapeutic change requires offenders to be active participants rather than passive recipients of programming (Drieschner et al., 2004).

It may also be difficult for program coordinators to build rapport with offenders when programming is conducted virtually. Research has established that a key element to enhancing

the effectiveness of correctional programs and rehabilitation efforts is to ensure that relationships between correctional staff, including program officers, parole officers, and correctional officers, should be of high quality and characterized as open, warm, non-judgemental, sympathetic, and engaging (Andrews, 2000). Educational research has found that relationship building in a faceto-face setting poses fewer challenges in comparison to building relationships in a virtual or online setting (Zelihic, 2014). In particular, Kurtzberg and colleagues (2009) found that facial expressions and posture play an important role in effective communication. As such, conducting correctional programming via teleconference or videoconference may hinder the program delivery officer's ability to foster a high quality interpersonal relationship with the offenders participating in the program, due to limited perceptions of body language and facial reactions, and difficulty with having an engaging conversation. For example, with videoconferencing, developing rapport with clients can be affected by technological features such as the quality of image, poor audio feed, bandwidth issues, and delayed transmissions. This can result in fragmented and/or repeated requests for clarification, which can affect the flow of communication in social interactions (Sullivan et al., 2008) and lead to less engagement and limited participation. In-person delivery circumvents the challenges of facilitators missing participants' behavioural cues, which are often unseen in a virtual environment, as it is difficult to read body language cues, especially when video is off or there are problems with audio-visual quality (Wardrop & Sheahan, 2019).

2. Virtual delivery of correctional programming may pose security concerns as well as network or connection issues.

Virtual delivery of programming can include videoconferencing and online learning platforms, which require use of the internet and other forms of technology. As such, there are a number of security concerns that need to be accounted for. For instance, some offenders may be highly skilled in information technology (IT), including those who are incarcerated for IT- or "hacking"-related offences (e.g., phishing scams, telemarketing scams), and those who commit offences in virtual worlds (Hoppe, 2019; Kerr, 2008). In fact, the CSC's Commissioner's Directive 705-3 outlines security literacy as an immediate need that should be documented by CSC staff in the Offender Management System (OMS). Therefore, although technology illiteracy might raise responsivity issues, the opposite issue of technology literacy warrants consideration by CSC staff as a potential security concern.

Regarding CSC's network security specifically, it would be imperative for internet browsers and links available to offenders to be firewalled and restricted to the sites, servers, or ports that CSC directly controls so that correctional programming can be delivered with as much protection as possible (Scarfone & Hoffman, 2009). Certain activity must also be restricted (e.g., social media access, forums, email) as per CSC requirements. Further, it is imperative to ensure that discussions and work around sensitive issues are safely contained within the program session and are not recorded and/or saved in an accessible area. This protected information must meet security standards to minimize risk of harm to both program participants and CSC staff.

In addition to security concerns, there are also challenges with networks and/or connections that need to be considered. For one, there would need to be a reliable and high speed internet connection, with sufficient bandwidth at each site in order for programming to be provided in a virtual setting. Internet or network connection issues or even a general weak internet or network connection can result in interruptions to programming and can be time consuming for staff to resolve. For instance, frequent technology issues (such as issues logging in or network updates), can result in staff resources being allocated to resolving IT issues, and delayed completion of programming by offenders, as well as frustration and lack of engagement by offenders. Other technology setbacks can include the timing required to train staff on how to use the online platform, videoconferencing platform, or VR technology, as well as how to monitor computer or tablet usage (Washington State Department of Corrections, 2022), potentially resulting in a temporary increase in staff workload.

Notably, the VCPD pilot project conducted by CSC has had several challenges related to security and network challenges. At the institutional level there were concerns around the supervision of offenders when using technology, as well as concerns around staff being able to operate the technology, and lack of support from facilitators on the virtual delivery methods (CSC, 2022c). At the community level there were several difficulties. For example, some participants had difficulty using the devices, some had network and/or connectivity issues, and some had issues with slow internet and bandwidth in correctional residential facilities and community correctional centres. Tablets had been purchased, but were not frequently used as expected. In addition, it was difficult to find a private location during programming where the offender could focus and feel comfortable engaging/participating (CSC, 2022c).

Although security concerns certainly need to be considered when implementing VCPD,

we must note that they should not be used as a reason to dismiss virtual delivery of programming altogether. Many jurisdictions have successfully incorporated the use of technology to deliver programming to offender populations. For example, certain Australian jurisdictions have successfully implemented the use of tablets among offender populations without citing security concerns as an issue (Thaler et al., 2022). Similarly, several American jurisdictions have taken appropriate steps to ensure that institutional security is not compromised by tablet use (Ruth & Sosorburam, 2022). Additionally, there has been research summarizing best practices for dealing with security challenges that can be used for reference purposes (for example, see Ruiz Salvador, Alvarez Llerena, & Nguyen, 2021 for a summary of security challenges and best practices specific to online learning platforms). As such, CSC's institutions could refer to lessons learned from neighbouring jurisdictions to ensure that security concerns are minimized and security threats are reduced. It is also important to recognize that as the technology landscape continues to change and the resulting risks that these changes may pose, it will be imperative to find ways to adapt and consider mitigation strategies to deal with the possibility of new security threats.

3. Offenders with low technology literacy may face challenges with completing correctional programming in a virtual setting.

While the use of technology to deliver programming has grown in frequency of use over the last few years in all areas within the general population, there are considerations when it comes to the offender population. For instance, technology is constantly advancing and technological devices and applications change quite rapidly. As such, the offender population, especially those who have been incarcerated for a long period of time, may not be aware of how to use technology or be familiar with the technological advancements that exist, let alone have had much exposure to technology, generally. Offenders with cognitive impairments, intellectual deficits or learning disabilities may have particular difficulty with completing correctional programming in a virtual setting as a result of low technology literacy as well as impairments in attention control, strategic goal planning, interpersonal and communication skills, cognitive flexibility, and organizing/adaptively using information stored in their working memory (American Psychiatry Association, 2013; Morgan & Lilienfeld, 2000).Offenders with low technological literacy may be overwhelmed or lack motivation to learn how to use a computer or access programming virtually. This can ultimately have an impact on an offender's level of engagement and level of motivation, as well as increase the amount of time that staff must spend

teaching the technological skills required to access the programming in a virtual setting.

4. When delivering correctional programming virtually, there may be challenges with addressing responsivity concerns.

Within the offender population, it is also important to consider various responsivity needs of the offender (Bonta & Andrews, 2017). In fact, research has indicated that barriers to addressing offender responsivity needs can significantly decrease program effectiveness (Howells & Day, 2003; Ward et al., 2004). Responsivity factors can include a range of individual factors, including demographic characteristics, such as age, gender, and culture, as well as cognitive, emotional and interpersonal skills, personality factors, motivation, and personal strengths (Andrews & Bonta, 2010). This also includes factors such as mental health concerns, cognitive impairments, intellectual deficits, learning disabilities, and exposure to adversity.

i. Mental health, well being, and virtual delivery of programs

There may be challenges with using technology (such as videoconferencing technology) with individuals who have certain mental health issues. It is recommended that clinicians and/or program delivery officers, at the very least, conduct a cursory assessment of prior videoconferencing use and comfort with each client, regardless of their presenting concerns or cognitive abilities (Batastini et al., 2020). Gauging client familiarity and potential concerns with the use of videoconferencing technology prior to starting programming may reduce resistance to, anxiety around, and poor engagement with videoconferencing technology (Batastini et al., 2020). For example, it may be counter-therapeutic to use videoconferencing technology with someone who is paranoid about government interference or surveillance via telecommunications. In this case, the use of virtual program delivery may not be warranted or may require increased discussions around confidentiality and security concerns.

One important area to focus on is offenders with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) and the virtual delivery of programming. Research has demonstrated a link between ADHD and criminality whereby ADHD has been associated with high rates of recidivism (Young et al., 2011) and an increased risk of imprisonment (Mohr-Jensen & Steinhausen, 2016). As such, it is not surprising to find that a larger proportion of incarcerated individuals meet the diagnostic criteria for ADHD than the general population (25.5% versus 2.5%; see meta-analysis conducted by Young et al., 2015). Given the large proportion of offenders with ADHD, it is important to consider the unique challenges that virtual delivery of programming may create for

these individuals. ADHD is a neurodevelopmental disorder that can be characterized by inattention (easily distracted, difficulty focusing), hyperactivity (difficulty sitting still), and impulsivity (acting without thinking, interrupting). Because of these symptoms, individuals with ADHD could experience increased negative effects from spending time interacting with others via videoconferencing or through online learning platforms. The National Institute of Mental Health (2021) and Medical News Today (2021) have suggested that videoconferencing and use of technologies to deliver services and programs can result in increased challenges for individuals with ADHD which include feeling overstimulated, difficulty sitting and paying attention for long periods of time, causing interruptions when on video- or teleconferencing, and generally having more difficulty engaging in comparison to programs delivered in-person. Furthermore, in online learning settings, individuals often lack familiarity with other program participants which may further pose challenges to individuals with ADHD including reduced motivation and poor learning performance (over and above individuals without ADHD; He et al., 2021).

In order to support offenders with ADHD, more encouragement to take an active role in their case management may be required, including having increased access to a number of services and agencies (e.g., pharmacological treatment, mental health services, additional treatment planning supports, etc.; Young et al., 2018). The structure of correctional programming may also require some modifications—especially when delivered virtually. For example, there may be a requirement for more hands-on learning or activities to promote learning key concepts. One example of this is the use of videogames and videogame therapy, which has been especially beneficial for juveniles and adults with ADHD (Ticknor, 2019). Videogames have been used in residential treatment programs because they help maintain participant engagement in therapy (Ceranoglu, 2010). Similarly, VR simulations have been used to enhance willingness to participate through active engagement and it can be useful to help participants learn and practice new skills in the virtual environment. Furthermore, ensuring the offender is completing programming in a space that is comfortable but with limited distractions can also assist those with ADHD. Perhaps allowing the use of fidget tools or adding movement where possible, as well as more regular breaks can assist with maintaining focus and engagement. Finally, it has been suggested that allowing individuals with ADHD to assist with the development and design of the program can assist with ensuring that not only are the perspectives of those with ADHD

included but that different strategies and approaches for information management and learning are considered (Spiel et al., 2022).

ii. Women offenders and virtual delivery of programs

Research has found that there is a relationship between positive social support and well-being, and this is particularly prominent for women (Bedrov & Gable, 2023). One common finding among women offenders is that most do not have a support system (Hale, 2001). Building a sense of community and connection is important for incarcerated women, as many have faced trauma and adversity, and have had antisocial relationships (Belknap, 2015). As such, it is important to provide opportunities for women to build connections and support systems where possible. One potential concern is that programming conducted virtually may restrict women from being able to make strong connections and build supportive relationships. Particularly, research has found that relationship building in a face-to-face setting poses fewer challenges in comparison to building relationships in a virtual or online setting (Zelihic, 2014). Therefore, it is likely that completing programming in person can assist with developing friendships more organically through face-to-face interactions, allowing women to further develop their communication and relationship skills in a more natural way than in a virtual environment.

iii. Additional responsivity concerns and virtual delivery of programs

Learning disabilities, age, and sensory impairments are three contributing factors that may lead to or increase difficulties with using technology and navigating online interfaces effectively. For example, research has found that students with learning disabilities tend to report difficulties with online learning (e.g., Goegan & Daniels, 2022; Kent, 2016), including challenges navigating various online learning platforms (Burgstahler, 2015), engaging with group work and/or the instructor (Goegan & Daniels, 2022), and having increased distractions (Hollins & Foley, 2013). Additionally, for individuals with learning disabilities, it is especially important to ensure that the amount of information being presented is manageable; too much information presented may be overwhelming and make it difficult for participants to interact with the material effectively (especially in a virtual context). Research has suggested that it is important to ensure that reasonable accommodations are provided to address individual needs, and when designing the learning environments, tools, and devices, accessibility should be

considered (Petretto et al., 2021).

Moreover, offenders who are older may have increased difficulties navigating the virtual environment. For example, older offenders may not know how to use technical equipment properly (Burraston et al., 2010), especially if they have been incarcerated for a long period of time. This will require additional support and/or training to ensure that they are able to access and navigate the programming and virtual environment. Research conducted by Haase et al. (2021), which examined the facilitators and barriers to using technology for socialization purposes among older adults (aged 65 and up), found that older adults presented a lack of interest in using or learning new technology as well as some physical barriers that stem from ailments including arthritis. It was also found that older adults relied on others for support to help them navigate the virtual environment and suggested that access to resources (including access to courses on technology), would be beneficial.

It is not unreasonable to assume that people with sensory impairments, such as those who are hearing or visually impaired, would also experience difficulties with online learning platforms, video- and teleconferencing, and virtual reality technology. A literature review by Aljedaani et al. (2022) found that students who are deaf or hard-of-hearing experienced challenges with technology, education, and health-related issues at the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. Hearing devices were unavailable, students were unable to work alongside their interpreters due to physical distancing measures, and anxiety and loneliness levels were elevated due to isolation from their classmates. Similarly, educators who worked alongside students who were blind or visually-impaired reported that students' needs were not adequately addressed, and family members were overly-relied on to deliver educational services that would otherwise have been possible for educators to do in-person (Correa-Torres & Muthukumaran, 2022). Taken together, research on educational delivery to those with sensory impairments highlights the potential issues that certain offenders might face when virtually interacting with correctional programming material. As such, CSC would have to consider how to best accommodate offenders in order to best serve their needs.

5. Specific Considerations around Virtual Reality

There are a number of VR-specific considerations that should be mentioned including physical and mental health considerations and resource considerations. First, there are physical concerns that need to be carefully considered. In particularly, VR requires a relatively large

amount of space to prevent physical injuries. There is also a chance that participants may get VR sickness (similar to motion sickness where participants can experience symptoms of dizziness, malaise and/or nausea; Barbe et al., 2022; Ticknor & Tillinghast, 2011), thus use may not be appropriate with all individuals. As mentioned in the previous section, there are also mental health considerations that need to be regarded prior to using this technology—participation should be considered on a case-by-case basis.

There are also a host of resource requirements, including costs, training requirements, time constraints, and the consideration of individualized needs. For example, the cost to purchase the VR technology across institutions and train staff on how to properly use the technology may be quite substantial. This would require training psychologists and other professionals, as well as IT staff on how to make changes to the VR world, etc. Further, given that the use of VR is a solo activity, this may offer limited participation. Use of VR is time consuming and is not ideal for use with a large amount of people, especially as there may be a requirement to tailor various environments to match an individual's specific needs. As such, this may further limit offenders from receiving timely access to programming and/or timely completion of programming compared to correctional programming offered in group settings. Finally, it should be noted that even though VR can assist with learning and developing new skills, it remains to be an artificial environment which does not capture all the nuances of reality. Thus, even with the creation of a virtual world that could resemble the experiences that offenders will encounter when outside of corrections, this may not fully capture the reality of situations that offenders will face.

A final limitation regarding the general use of VR technology is public perception (Heimo et al., 2014), which might extend to correctional programming specifically. Given the high costs associated with VR headsets and other accessories (Dunne, 2022), as well as the increased demand for VR technology for simulated training purposes in other areas (Shared Services Canada, 2019), it is possible that the public's perception towards VR technology is that government funding should first be allocated to other public safety initiatives, such as weapons training among front-line officers. Therefore, until VR technology use is more widespread throughout other public safety initiatives, and has been more thoroughly researched on how best to incorporate use with offender populations, it may be preferable to prioritize the implementation of VCPD through other methods first (e.g., online learning/tele- and videoconferencing).

How do correctional programs delivered virtually compare to in-person correctional programs?

In order to substantiate the use of virtual correctional program delivery at CSC, VCPD must produce equal (i.e., non-significant) or improved outcomes when compared to traditional face-to-face program delivery. In fact, research in non-correctional justice settings has demonstrated that technology can produce such outcomes. For example, McDonald et al. (2016) recruited criminal defendants to participate in pre-trial consultations with their defence attorneys either in person or via videoconference. They found no significant differences in defendants' ratings on perceptions of working alliance, trust, procedural fairness, and satisfaction with attorney services between the two study groups. Further, defendants in the videoconferencing group indicated that they believed videoconferencing was an acceptable method of facilitating attorney-client pre-trial consultations. Research on parole hearings, however, has demonstrated that remote hearings pose greater challenges to participation and that in-person hearings are perceived as superior when compared to remote hearings (Peplow & Phillips, 2023).

Regarding programming specifically, there is mixed evidence on the effectiveness of virtual delivery as it compares to traditional, face-to-face program delivery. For example, Garvey et al. (2021) compared the Breaking Free Online (BFO) program to an in-person, practitioner-led group program for incarcerated men in the United Kingdom. They found that, when compared to BFO, the traditional in-person program had significantly higher rates of improvement across measures of quality of life, severity of substance dependence, and biopsychosocial impairment.

However, the Thinking for a Change (TFAC) videoconferencing program that was discussed previously yielded no significant differences in pro-social skill-related outcomes between those in the videoconferencing and those in the traditional delivery groups (LaPlant et al., 2021). Inversely, the RealVictory program that used a cellphone-based intervention for juvenile offenders demonstrated significant differences between traditional programming and traditional programming that was supplemented with teleconferencing (i.e., a phone call). More specifically, when compared to participants who received standard programming, (1) the median days to first re-arrest was 2.9 times longer and (2) the percentage of participants who were never re-arrested were highest among RealVictory participants whose programming was supplemented with teleconferencing (Burraston et al., 2012).

Tuente et al. (2020) randomly assigned forensic psychiatric inpatients to either treatment-as-usual or Virtual Reality Aggression Prevention Therapy (VRAPT) in addition to treatment as

usual. The findings from their study in the Netherlands revealed that, compared to individuals assigned to treatment as usual, those who participated in VRAPT had lower levels in observed and self-reported aggressive behaviour. Although these differences were not significant, the findings demonstrate that using VR technology as a treatment method among forensic psychiatric inpatients can produce equal outcomes in aggression when compared to traditional treatment delivery methods.

Taken altogether, these findings indicate that using online learning platforms, tele- and videoconferencing, and virtual reality to deliver programming to offenders can yield similar – but not significantly better – results to traditional methods and show promise for other forms of virtual correctional program delivery in the future. However, given the limited research available, further examination is required specifically focusing on correctional program delivery and with various subgroups of the offender population.

What are the principles of effective virtual delivery to a diverse offender population?

Virtual program delivery can be applied to a variety of diverse offender needs including in the form of substance use programming, skills training, behaviour training, and offensespecific interventions. This provides a greater range of opportunities for interventions at correctional institutions (Cornet & Gelder, 2020). For example, technology can be used for offender re-integration by teaching social skills and simulating real world interactions (Cornet & Gelder, 2020; Melnick, 2018), and can be adjustable to individual criminogenic needs (Fromberger et al., 2018). In terms of substance use needs, technology can be used to help offenders address substance use related challenges before being released (Cornet & Gelder, 2020; Segawa et al., 2020). Similarly, online learning platforms and VR technology can be used to address antisocial/aggressive behaviour by teaching de-escalating techniques and skills to offenders with behavioural issues (Tuente et al., 2018). As such, virtual delivery of programming can be tailored to meet the unique needs of the individual, whereby online learning platforms, videoconferencing, pre-recorded lessons, and/or VR technology can supplement in-class learning to further strengthen specific skills and further target specific need domains. However, there is not enough evidence to suggest that technology can fully replace in-class learning; further research is needed on the overall effectiveness of technology and virtual program delivery in correctional settings.

Regardless of delivery format, it is imperative that correctional programs are based on the

risk, need, and responsivity (RNR) principles, which serve to effectively lower the risk of reoffending (Bonta & Andrews, 2017; CSC, 2021a; HMPPS, 2020). That is, programs must be clearly defined in terms of who is being targeted (i.e., in terms of risk level; the needs that are being targeted; the offender or offence types; etc.), regardless of the delivery format chosen (HMPPS, 2020). Efforts must be made to match the delivery method to the participant (HMPPS, 2020), whereby the individual's responsivity factors are considered. Therefore, knowledge of both the program content and approach, and the participant's circumstances is critical to ensure there is a good fit. Additionally, in order to respond to responsivity factors, structured behavioural, social learning, and cognitive behavioural influence strategies must be incorporated regardless of the type of delivery method being used. These strategies may include prosocial modelling, acquiring skills through role playing, and cognitive restructuring (Andrews, 2000). Importantly, specific responsivity factors to consider may include personality, ability, motivation level, areas of strengths, age, gender, ethnicity/race, language, and any barriers to participation (Andrews, 2000). As such, the use of technology to deliver correctional programs is not a one-size-fits-all approach and requires individualized intervention planning.

Individualized intervention planning

At CSC, one way in which individuals' responsivity factors are addressed are through the adapted correctional program streams. The adapted correctional program streams are used to provide additional support to offenders who have unique responsivity factors that may affect their ability to participate in correctional programming. These responsivity factors can include: mental health issues, learning disabilities, intellectual disabilities, Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder, Acquired Brain Injury, or other mental health disorders or issues. For instance, for offenders in men's institutions, there are adapted versions of the ICPM Multi-Target Moderate Intensity Program and the ICPM Sex Offender Moderate Intensity Programs. These adapted correctional programs teach offenders skills that help reduce risk and criminogenic factors, but do so at a slower pace and are delivered in shorter time periods with overall smaller groups. This allows program facilitators to provide additional tailored individual support. As such, when delivering programs virtually, the same considerations should be given to those who may require additional supports. In a virtual setting, this may look like: increased time to complete tasks, having additional one-on-one virtual sessions or breakout-space when using videoconferencing or online learning platforms, or even utilizing an adapted online platform based on the users'

needs that may incorporate different types of tasks, additional content to review, or direct access to a chat with a program officer.

It is also important to determine whether or not remote access/virtual programming is suitable for the participant and how to best deliver the program in that format to maximize the program benefits and increase the chances of success (HMPPS, 2020). For example, while there is a growing body of research, currently there is a lack of evidence to support the use of remoteaccess delivery for groups and individuals with complex behaviours such as emotional control problems, risk management issues, learning disabilities, or significant interpersonal and personality issues (HMPPS, 2020). In fact, given that the offender population has such diverse needs, some clients may be more difficult to engage because of limited comprehension and impaired concentration. Offenders with specific learning disorders or intellectual and developmental disabilities may first require a formal assessment of reading level to determine their responsivity to intended interventions and need for modifications to materials, as well as their ability to navigate technology independently or to what extent direct assistance is required (Batastini et al., 2020). Research suggests that remote access delivery of programs may be best suited to short-term psychoeducational work and relapse prevention. It is suggested that virtual delivery of programming cannot replace face-to-face delivery options without further understanding what works and what does not work with diverse populations (HMPPS, 2020).

Although not specific to correctional populations, there is some evidence to suggest that virtual delivery of programming can be conducted in a way that continues to consider and address individuals' unique needs and responsivity factors. For instance, in 2007 the United Kingdom's Virtual Campus was developed to enhance classroom educational opportunities, individualize student learning, and engage students who were struggling in the traditional classroom setting (Tolbert et al., 2015). While there are opportunities to individualize student learning, remote classes should remain smaller, as it is more difficult for the professor to support students when not physically near those students (Collica-Cox, 2022). That is, keeping classes small can allow for more individualized attention, although smaller classes are not the only way to support students—additional resources may also be required by professors and/or program delivery officers to assist learners when needed (Collica-Cox, 2022). Program delivery officers should also be provided with clear guidelines for the latitude given to program participants to ensure appropriate arrangements are made to avoid distracting environments.

In clinical settings, therapists using videoconferencing technology must individualize intervention protocols to work with challenging behaviours and unique personality characteristics (Batastini et al., 2020). Research has shown that clinicians have successfully introduced humor, direct therapeutic challenges, and motivational techniques such as "rolling with resistance" through videoconferencing technology as a way to help clients recognize their extreme thinking styles or problematic behaviours (Batastini et al., 2020). As such, in virtual settings, clinicians must be able to project openness, interest, and inquisitiveness by expressing exaggerated postures and thoughtful inflections when speaking. It is important for program delivery officers to also project openness, interest and inquisitiveness when conducting correctional programming through the use of videoconferencing to maintain interest, motivation, and build trusting relationships where offenders feel encouraged to share and participate.

Similarly, a pilot study conducted by CSC, which provided virtual programming to offenders in the community, found that challenges with offender participation can be avoided through awareness of the offender's rating on motivation and engagement, as it can enable correctional program officers to develop and implement strategies early on to increase and maintain motivation and engagement throughout the course of the program (Wardrop et al., 2022). Offenders who are motivated to participate are more likely to take action and find solutions to challenges with remote delivery as they arise (Wardrop et al., 2022).

General guidelines and best practices for virtual training

It is important to recognize that not all activities that work in a classroom setting will work in a virtual setting. However, there are a number of general guidelines and best practices that have been established through research, although these are not specific to offender populations. As detailed throughout this report, establishing and maintaining engagement and motivation is fundamental to a successful virtual training or programming session. Although it is not always easy to detect level of motivation and engagement in virtual settings, participants' responsiveness can provide insight to their understanding in lieu of the traditional visual cues of a classroom. Strategies for engagement and discussions to confirm that participants are still alert and learning key concepts throughout the program session can also be enforced. Some strategies include asking questions, both open-ended and closed, or even conducting poll-type questions to gauge retention and understanding of key concepts. Some research suggests that being "camera-on" all the time can lead to fatigue (Shockley et al., 2021); as such, another strategy to increase

engagement includes allowing participants to turn their cameras off periodically.

When conducting programming through videoconferencing, it is also important to keep slides simple—including the use of plain and inclusive language, as well as clean and organized slides that do not contain too much information. It is also important to use colours and fonts effectively, as slides should be easy to read and clear for all participants. This could mean using large, standardized dark font against a light background. However, it is also important for videoconferencing materials and online learning platforms, for that matter, to be engaging, which may include the use of photos or other images, videos, or other forms of activities. Some of these activities may include virtual break-out room activities (when using videoconferencing platforms), or even whole-group discussions using polling or chat. There is also the option of incorporating live coaching by turning over live application sharing to a participant who "drives" the presenter's demo or whiteboard for the group, allowing the participant to teach a key concept to the rest of the group. Online learning platforms should also use an abundance of activities to promote learning key concepts. This can include scenario-based activities, quizzes, polls, videos, and even potentially online games or videogames to help demonstrate and practice key concepts. A major obstacle with offender populations is keeping them engaged during the program session and using videogames has been shown to be successful in doing this (Ceranoglu, 2010).

Finally, adapting in-person education to online learning is not easy. Studies show that interactions from teachers-to-students and students-to-peers is essential for successful student learning. When these relationships are disconnected, learners will struggle and will not retain key concepts being taught (Hutwagner, 2021). As such, it is imperative that programs promote some aspect of social interaction—which can mean a hybrid approach (in-class learning mixed with online learning, which may be particularly useful if using VR technology, pre-recorded lessons, or online learning platforms which are typically used solo) or ensuring that programming contains opportunities for different types of engagement (particularly when utilizing videoconferencing or even teleconferencing).

Limitations

Based on the existing literature on virtual correctional program delivery, online learning, tele- and videoconferencing, and virtual reality are all feasible approaches to providing programming to assist with reducing aggression, hostility, and in some cases, re-offending

(Burraston et al., 2012; Tuente et al., 2018). However, there are several limitations that may affect the generalizability of our findings, which in turn, are described in detail.

First, the findings presented here are predominately from published literature. A common critique of citing published literature is that it creates a publication bias whereby significant and preferable findings are reported on more frequently than null, but otherwise valid, findings (Franco et al., 2014). We must consider that there are likely studies that have been conducted – but not published – in the area of virtual programming due to insignificant findings or findings that have trended in a direction opposite as to what was hypothesized. Without knowing the results from studies that have not been made publically available, we do not know the *true* nature of VCPD effectiveness.

Second, literature in this area is only starting to emerge within the field of corrections and offender management. As a result, there are very few studies that have examined how virtual delivery of programming can reduce recidivism, which is the primary goal of CSC's correctional reintegration programming (CSC, 2021a). We had to consult research on technology use in other areas, including education, medicine, and law more generally to make inferences about what pattern of results might be observed in a correctional setting. However, without much literature to draw conclusions specifically regarding recidivism reduction, we cannot state with certainty that the use of VCPD would assist offenders to become law-abiding citizens by reducing reoffending, a main corporate priority of CSC (CSC, 2022d). Future research examining the reoffending outcomes of VCPD is required to bridge this gap in the literature.

Further, the start of the COVID-19 pandemic acted as a catalyst for institutional needs into VCPD, and consequently, a *research* need in this area as well. However, it is important to note that a well-planned approach to delivering VCPD might yield different outcomes when compared to programming implemented due to an immediate and urgent need. Because of these potentially different approaches to implementing VCPD (e.g., well-planned vs. immediate need), it is important to note that the applicability of any research done on these different approaches might differ. More information on the effectiveness and applicability of VCPD will likely become available within the next several years as (1) researchers publish studies and make their findings available to the public and (2) more institutions move towards formal implementation of VCPD approaches.

Fourth, many of the studies reported here were conducted in America or outside of North

America more generally (i.e., Europe, Australia), or focused on a very specific offender sub-population (e.g., offenders with a substance use disorder, offenders of IPV, driving offences, etc.). Because of this, the findings reported here might not be generalizable to *all* offenders under the supervision of CSC. Future research should focus on the effectiveness of VCPD among Indigenous, women, older, neuro-divergent, and other diverse offender populations.

Finally, given the limited research available specific to virtual program delivery in correctional contexts, it was not possible to fully disentangle how correctional programs delivered virtually compared to in-person correctional programs; specifically in terms of frequency of programming required, length of programming sessions required, and most promising method of delivery, as well as the challenges posed by the operational reality of virtual program delivery within a correctional context. Given that this area of research is in its infancy, it was also not possible to determine principles of effective virtual delivery to a diverse offender population. Future research may include conducting a systematic review and/or a meta-analysis examining the treatment outcomes of various virtual delivery methods, once more research becomes available.

Conclusion

In conclusion, there are three primary methods in which correctional programming can be delivered virtually: (1) pre-recorded lessons and online learning platforms, (2) teleconferencing and videoconferencing, and (3) virtual reality technology. According to the literature, all three methods appear to be promising approaches of delivering programming (LaPlant et al., 2021; Melnick, 2018; Walters et al., 2014). Preliminary findings regarding videoconferencing and VR technology have demonstrated equal outcomes (LaPlant et al., 2021; Tuente et al., 2020), and research on teleconferencing in particular suggests that supplementing traditional, face-to-face program delivery with technology can produce superior outcomes when compared to traditional delivery alone (Burraston et al., 2012). Although there are limitations of using VCPD that need to be considered (e.g., network connectivity issues, responsivity concerns, etc.) and principles of effective delivery need to be followed for diverse populations, the potential benefits (e.g., increasing completion of programming, assisting with skill development, etc.) reinforce the idea that virtual methods of implementing correctional programming should be explored for use with offender populations. While the COVID-19 pandemic has presented an immediate need to

consider VCPD, the emerging literature in this area – coupled with the ever-changing nature of correctional operations and the offender population – present a unique opportunity to integrate the use of virtual delivery in CSC's correctional programs.

References

- Aditama, P. W., Putra, P. S. U., Yusa, I. M. M., & Putra, I. N. T. A. (2021). Designing augmented reality sibi sign language as a learning media. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1810(1), 1-8. doi: 10.1088/1742-6596/1810/1/012038
- Aljedaani, W., Krasniqi, R., Aljedaani, S., Wiem Mkaouer, M., Ludi, S., & Al-Raddah, K. (2022). If online learning works for you, what about deaf students? Emerging challenges of online learning for deaf and hearing-impaired students during COVID-19: A literature review. *Universal Access in the Information Society*, *0*(0), 1-20. doi: 10.1007/s10209-022-00897-5
- Alqahtani, A. S., Daghestani, L. F., & Ibrahim, L. F. (2017). Environments and system types of virtual reality technology in STEM: A survey. *International Journal of Advanced Computer Science and Applications*, 8(6), 77-89. doi: 10.14569/IJACSA.2017.080610
- American Psychiatric Association (2013). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (Fifth ed.). Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Andrews, D. (2000). *Chapter 2: Principles of Effective Correctional Programs*. Retrieved from: https://www.csc-scc.gc.ca/research/com2000-chap_2-eng.shtml.
- Andrews D. A., & Bonta, J. (2010). The psychology of criminal conduct (5th ed.). LexisNexis.
- Barbe, H., Müller, J. L., Siegel, B., & Fromberger, P. (2022). An open source virtual reality training framework for the criminal justice system. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, *50*(2), 294-303. doi: 10.1177/00938548221124128
- Batastini, A., Jones, A., Lester, M., & Davis, R. (2020). Initiation of a multidisciplinary telemental health clinic for rural justice-involved populations: Rationale, recommendations, and lessons learned. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 48(7), 2156-2173. doi: 10.1002/jcop.22424
- Bedrov, A., & Gable, S. L. (2023). Thriving together: The benefits of women's social ties for physical, psychological and relationship health. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *378*(1868). doi: 10.1098/rstb.2021.0441
- Belknap, J. (2015). *The invisible woman: Gender, crime, and justice* (4th ed.). Stamford, CT: Cengage Learning.

- Bonta, J., & Andrews, D. A. (2017). *The psychology of criminal conduct (6th ed.)*. Routledge.
- Bos, N., Groeneveld, C., van Bruggen, J., & Brand-Gruwel, S. (2016). The use of recorded lectures in education and the impact on lecture attendance and exam performance. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 47(5), 906-917. doi: 10.1111/bjet.12300
- Brantley, A. D., Page, K. M., Zack, B., Friedrich, K. R., Wendell, D., Robinson, W. T., & Gruber, D. (2019). Making the connection: Using videoconferencing to increase linkage to care for incarcerated persons living with HIV post-release. *AIDS and Behavior*, 23(1), 32-40. doi: 10.1007/s10461-018-2115-4
- Brosens, D., De Donder, L., Vanwing, T., Dury, S., & Verté, D. (2014). Lifelong learning programs in prison: Influence of social networks on participation. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *116*, 518-523. doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.01.251
- Burgstahler, S. E. (2015). *Universal design in higher education: Promising practices*. Seattle: DO-IT, University of Washington. Retrieved from: http://www.uw.edu/doit/UDHE-promising-practices/
- Burraston, B. O., Cherrington, D. J., Bahr, S. J. (2012). Reducing juvenile recidivism with cognitive training and a cell phone follow-up: An evaluation of the RealVictory program. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, *56*(1), 61-80. doi: 10.1177/0306624X10388635
- Ceranoglu, A. T. (2010). Video games in psychotherapy. *Review of General Psychology*, 14(2), 141-146. doi: 10.1037/a0019439
- Chen, P. V., Helm, A., Caloudas, S. G., Ecker, A., Day, G., Hogan, J., & Lindsay, J. (2022). Evidence of phone vs video-conferencing for mental health treatments: A review of the literature. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 24, 529-539. doi: 10.1007/s11920-022-01359-8
- Chirikov, I., Semenova, T., Maloshonok, N., Bettinger, E., & Kizilcec, R. F. (2020). Online education platforms scale college STEM instruction with equivalent learning outcomes at lower cost. *Science Advances*, 6(15), 1-10. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aay5324.
- Collica-Cox, K. (2022). Bringing inside-out online: Coming together in a virtual environment. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 61(2), 61-87. doi: 10.1080/10509674.2021.2018380
- Cornet, L. J., & Van Gelder, J. L. (2020). Virtual reality: A use case for criminal justice practice. *Psychology, Crime & Law*, 26(7), 631-647. doi: 10.1080/1068316X.2019.1708357

- Correa-Torres, S., & Muthukumaran, A. (2022). Impact of COVID-19 on services for students with visual impairment: Experiences and lessons from the field. *British Journal of Visual Impairment*, 0(0). doi: 10.1177/02646196221109082
- Correctional Service Canada. (2018). *Immediate Needs Identification and Admission Interviews*. *Commissioner's Directive 705-3*. Ottawa, ON: Correctional Service of Canada. Retrieved from https://www.csc-scc.gc.ca/acts-and-regulations/705-3-cd-eng.shtml
- Correctional Service Canada. (2019). *Video-programming*. Ottawa, Ontario: Correctional Service of Canada.
- Correctional Service Canada. (2020). *The digital education project: A success story*. Retrieved from: https://www.lte-ene.ca/en/digital-education-project-success-story
- Correctional Service Canada. (2021a). *Correctional programs*. Retrieved from: https://www.csc-scc.gc.ca/002/002-0001-en.shtml
- Correctional Service Canada. (2021b). *Digital education project*. Retrieved from: https://www.csc-scc.gc.ca/atip/007006-0025-en.shtml
- Correctional Service Canada. (2022a). *Virtual correctional program delivery Project focus*. Retrieved from: http://thehub/En/collections/applications/oms/vcpd/Pages/project-focus.aspx
- Correctional Service Canada. (2022b). *Virtual correctional program delivery Project overview*. Retrieved from: http://thehub/En/collections/applications/oms/vcpd/Pages/project-overview.aspx
- Correctional Service Canada. (2022c). Virtual Correctional Program Delivery (VCPD) Project December 2021 to March 31 2022 [PowerPoint slides]. GCDocs.
- Correctional Service Canada (2022d). *CSC's mission and corporate priorities*. Retrieved from: http://thehub/En/about-csc/corporate-information/Pages/mission-priorities.aspx
- Davidson, T. (2023). Parole board, inmates still seeing 'traffic jam' of delays in rehabilitative programming: Lawyer. Law 360 Canada. Retrieved from: https://www.law360.ca/criminal/articles/45189
- Drieschner K. H., Lammers S. M. M., & van der Staak C. P. F. (2004). Treatment motivation: An attempt for clarification of an ambiguous concept. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 23(8),

- 1115–1137. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2003.09.003
- Dunne, N. (2022). Why virtual reality hasn't hit the mainstream Yet. The Globe and Mail. Retrieved from: https://www.theglobeandmail.com/life/article-why-virtual-reality-hasnt-hit-the-mainstream-yet/
- D'Zurilla, T. J., Nezu, A. M., & Maydeu-Olivares, T. (2002). *Social Problem-Solving Inventory Revised (SPSI-R): Manual.* North Tonawanda, NY: Multi-Health Systems.
- Elison, S., Davies, G., & Ward, J. (2016). Initial Development and Psychometric Properties of a New Measure of Substance Use Disorder "Recovery Progression": The Recovery Progression Measure (RPM). *Substance use & misuse*, *51*(9), 1195–1206. doi: 10.3109/10826084.2016.1161052
- Elison-Davies, S., Davies, G., Ward, J., Dugdale, S., Weston, S., Jones, A., Brides, M., & Weekes, J. (2018). Protocol for a randomized controlled trial of the Breaking Free Online Health and Justice program for substance misuse in prison settings. *Health & Justice*, 6(20), 1-14. doi: 10.1186/s40352-018-0078-1
- El-Sabagh, H. A. (2021). Adaptive e-learning environment based on learning styles and its impact on development students' engagement. *International Journal of Educational Technology and Higher Education*, 18(53). doi: 10.1186/s41239-021-00289-4
- Employment and Social Development Canada. (2021). *Learn about the skills*. Retrieved from: https://www.canada.ca/en/services/jobs/training/initiatives/skills-success/understanding-individuals.html
- Fleming, N., & Baume, D. (2006). Learning styles again: VARKing up the right tree! *Educational Developments*, 7, 4-7. Retrieved from: https://www.vark-learn.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/08/Educational-Developments.pdf
- Francescucci, A., & Rohani, L. (2019). Exclusively synchronous online (VIRI) learning: The impact on student performance and engagement outcomes. *Journal of Marketing Education*, *41*(1), 60-69. doi: 10.1177/0273475318818864
- Franco, A., Malhorta, N., & Simonovits, G. (2014). Publication bias in the social sciences: Unlocking the file drawer. *Science*, *345*(6203), 1502-1505. doi: 10.1126/science.1255484
- Fromberger, P., Jordan, K., & Müller, J. L. (2018). Virtual reality applications for diagnosis, risk assessment and therapy of child abusers. *Behavioral Sciences & the Law*, *36*(2), 235-244. doi: 10.1002/bsl.2332

- Garvey, M., Elison-Davies, S., & Weekes, J. (2021). Examining the effectiveness of two substance use interventions within the criminal justice system. *The Canadian Journal of Addiction*, 12(2), 59-66. doi: 10.1097/CXA.000000000000111
- Goegan, L. D., & Daniels, L. M. (2022). Online learning for students with learning disabilities and their typical peers: The association between basic psychological needs and outcomes. *Learning Disabilities*, *37*(2), 140-150. doi: 10.1111/ldrp.12277
- Golden, L. S., Gatchel, R. J., & Cahill, M. A. (2006). Evaluating the effectiveness of the national institute of corrections' "Thinking for a Change" program among probationers. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 43(2), 55-73. doi: 10.1300/J076v43n02_03
- González Moraga, F. R., Tuente, S. K., Perrin, S., Enebrink, P., Sygel, K., Veling, W., & Wallinius, M. (2022). New developments in virtual reality-assisted treatment of aggression in forensic settings: The case of VRAPT. *Frontiers in Virtual Reality*, 11(2), 1-8. doi: 10.3389/frvir.2021.675004
- Haase, K. R., Cosco, T., Kervin, L., Riadi, I., & O'Connell, M. E. (2021). Older adults' experiences with using technology for socialization during the COVID-19 pandemic: Cross-sectional survey study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research on Aging*, 4(2), 1-8 doi: 10.2196/28010
- Hadgu, R. M., Hoang-Vy Huynh, S., & Gopalan, C. (2016). The use of pre-recorded lectures on student performance in physiology. *Journal of Curriculum and Teaching*, *5*(1), 105-112. doi: 10.5430/jct.v5n1p105
- Hager, E. (2020). *Solitary, brawls, no teachers: Coronavirus makes juvenile jails look like adult prisons*. The Marshall Project. Retrieved from: https://www.themarshallproject.org/2020/05/12/solitary-brawls-no-teachers-coronavirus-makes-juvenile-jails-look-like-adult-prisons
- Hale, T. (2001). Creating visions and achieving goals: The women in community service's lifeskills program. *Corrections Today*, 63(1), 33-37.
- He, S., Shuai, L., Wang, Z., Qiu, M., Wilson, A., Xia, W., Cao, X., Lu, L., & Zhang, J. (2021). Online learning performances of children and adolescents with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Inquiry: A Journal of Medical Care Organization, Provision and Financing*, 58. doi: 10.1177/00469580211049065

- Heimo, O. I., Kimppa, K. K., Helle, S., Korkalainen, T., & Lehtonen, T. (2014). *Augmented reality Towards an ethical fantasy?* Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers International Symposium on Ethics in Science, Technology, and Engineering, 1-7. Retrieved from: https://ieeexplore-ieee-org.proxy.library.carleton.ca/stamp/stamp.jsp?tp=&arnumber=6893423
- Her Majesty Prison and Probation Service (HMPPS). (2020). *HMPPS Interventions Services:*Alternative Delivery Formats Manual for Interventions Services' Accredited Programmes.
- Hollins, N., & Foley, A. R. (2013). The experiences of students with learning disabilities in a higher education virtual campus. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 61, 607-624. doi: 10.1007/s11423-013-9302-9
- Hoppe, D. (2019). *Eleven crimes that occur in virtual reality*. Gamma Law. Retrieved from: https://gammalaw.com/eleven-crimes-that-occur-in-virtual-reality/
- Howells K., & Day A. (2003). Readiness for anger management: Clinical and theoretical issues. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 23, 319–337. doi: 10.1016/s0272-7358(02)00228-3
- Hutwagner, C. (2021). Reevaluating incarcerated juvenile education in the wake of COVID-19: Why the juvenile system should take advantage of the online learning wave. *Advances in Developmental and Educational Psychology*, *3*(1), 109-120. doi: 0.25082/ADEP.2021.01.004
- Kaltenthaler, E., Parry, G., & Beverley, C. (2004). Computerized cognitive behaviour therapy: A systematic review. *Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapy*, 32(1), 31-55. doi: 10.1017/S135246580400102X
- Kent, M. (2016). Access and barriers to online education for people with disabilities. Retrieved from: https://www.ncsehe.edu.au/publications/access-and-barriers-to-online-education-for-people-with-disabilities/
- Kerr, O. S. (2008). Criminal law in virtual worlds. *University of Chicago Legal Forum, 1*(11), 415-429. Retrieved from: http://chicagounbound.uchicago.edu/uclf/vol2008/iss1/11
- King, V. L., Brooner, R. K., Peirce, J. M., Kolodner, K., & Kidorf, M. S. (2014). A randomized trial of web-based videoconferencing for substance abuse counseling. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 46(1), 36-42. doi: 10.1016/j.jsat.2013.08.009.
- Kurtzberg, T. R., Naquin, C. E., & Belkin, L. Y. (2009). Humor as a relationship-building tool in

- online negotiations. *International Journal of Conflict Management*, 20(4), 377-397. doi: 10.1108/10444060910991075
- LaPlant, E. G., Bellair, P. E., Kowalski, B. R., Addison, D., & Starr, S. (2021). Assessing the delivery of the Thinking for a Change Program in modified formats: An experimental approach. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, 65(8), 832-857. doi: 10.1177/0306624X20975159
- Levesque, D. A., Ciavatta, M. M., Castle, P. H., Prochaska, J. M., & Prochaska, J. O. (2012). Evaluation of a stage-based, computer-tailored adjunct to usual care for domestic violence offenders. *Psychology of Violence*, *2*(4), 368-384, doi: 10.1037/a0027501
- Lianto Buliali, J. (2021). Innovative learning model with augmented reality technology for deaf students. *Ilkogretim Online*, 20(1), 663-673. doi: 10.17051/ilkonline.2021.01.56
- Lipsey, M. W., Landenberger, N. A., & Wilson, S. J. (2007). *Effects of cognitive-behavioral programs for criminal offenders: A systematic review.* The Campbell Collaboration.
- McDonald, B. R., Morgan, R. D., & Metze, P. S. (2016). The attorney-client working relationship: A comparison of in-person versus videoconferencing modalities. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law,* 22(2), 200-210. doi: 10.1037/law0000079
- McDougall, C., Pearson, D. A. S., Torgerson, D. J., & Garcia-Reyes, M. (2017). The effect of digital technology on prisoner behavior and reoffending: A natural stepped-wedge design. *Journal of Experimental Criminology, 13*, 455-482. doi: 10.1007/s11292-017-9303-5
- Medical News Today (2021, September 3). What to know about ADHD and Zoom meetings. https://www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/adhd-zoom-meetings#coping-strategies
- Melnick, K. (2018, January 2). *Inmates use VR to prepare for life on the outside*. VR Scout. Retrieved from: https://vrscout.com/news/inmates-vr-prepare-life-on-outside/
- Mohr-Jensen. C. & Steinhausen, H. C. (2016). A meta-analysis and systematic review of the risks associated with childhood attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder on long-term outcome of arrests, convictions, and incarcerations. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 48, 32-42. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2016.05.002
- Morgan, A. B., & Lilienfeld, S. O. (2000). A meta-analytic review of the relation between antisocial behavior and neuropsychological measures of executive function. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 20(1), 113–136.

- National Institute of Mental Health (2021). *Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder in adults:* What you need to know (NIH Publication No. 21-MH-3572). Retrieved from: https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/publications/adhd-what-you-need-to-know#pub1
- Nilaad, S. D., Lin, E., Bailey, J., Truong, C., Gaboyan, S., Mittal, A., Best, B. M., Guluma, K., Iglewicz, A., Lander, L., Evans, S., Goldberg, C., & Crotty Alexander, L. E. (2022). Learning outcomes in a live virtual versus in-person curriculum for medical and pharmacy students. *ATS Scholar*, *3*(3), 337-503. doi: 10.34197/ats-scholar.2022-0001OC.
- Northey, G., Bucic, T., Chylinski, M., & Govind, R. (2015). Increasing student engagement using asynchronous learning. *Journal of Marketing Education*, *37*(3), 171-180. doi: 10.1177/0273475315589814
- Peplow, D., & Phillips, J. (2023). Remote parole oral hearings: More efficient, but at what cost? Criminology & Criminal Justice, 00(0), 1-20. doi: 10.1177/17488958231163278
- Petretto, D. R., Carta, S. M., Cataudella, S., Masala, I., Mascia, M. L., Penna, M. P., Piras, P., Pistis, I., & Masala, C. (2021). The use of distance learning and e-learning in students with learning disabilities: A review on the effects and some hint of analysis on the use during COVID-19 outbreak. *Clinical Practice and Epidemiology in Mental Health*, 17, 92–102. doi: 10.2174/1745017902117010092
- Prochaska, J. O., & DiClemente, C. C. (1983). Stages and processes of self-change of smoking: Toward an integrative model of change. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 51(3), 390-395, doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.51.3.390.
- Ruiz, Salvador, L. C., Alvarez Llerena, C. L., & Nguyen, H. P. D. (2021). Digital education: Security challenges and best practices. *Security Science Journal*, 2(2), 65-76. doi: 10.37458/ssj.2.2.4
- Rusli, M. S., & Ibrahim, Z. (2022). Augmented reality (AR) for deaf and hard of hearing (DHH) for animation. *e-Academia Journal of UiTM Cawangan Terengganu*, 11(2), 175-186.
- Ruth, S., & Sosorburam, T. (2022). *Digital tablets in prisons and jails Is there evidence that they can help to reduce recidivism?* Proceedings of the International Technology, Education and Development Conference: Valencia, Spain.

- Scarfone, K., & Hoffman, P. (2009). *Guidelines on firewalls and firewall policy:**Recommendations of the National Institute of Standards and Technology. Gaithersburg,

 MD: National Institute of Standards and Technology, U.S. Department of Commerce.

 Retrieved from: https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/GOVPUB-C13f52fdee3827e2f5d903fa8b4b66d4855/pdf/GOVPUB-C13f52fdee3827e2f5d903fa8b4b66d4855.pdf
- Segawa, T., Baudry, T., Bourla, A., Blanc, J. V., Peretti, C. S., Mouchabac, S., & Ferreri, F. (2020). Virtual reality (VR) in assessment and treatment of addictive disorders: A systematic review. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, *13*, 1409. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2019.01409
- Seinfeld, S., Arroyo-Palacios, J., Iruretagoyena, G., Hortensius, R., Zapata, L. E., Borland, D., ... & Sanchez-Vives, M. V. (2018). Offenders become the victim in virtual reality: Impact of changing perspective in domestic violence. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 1-11. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-19987-7
- Shared Services Canada. (2019). *Augmented reality and virtual reality research brief.* Retrieved from: https://wiki.gccollab.ca/images/2/24/EN_-_Technology_Trends_-_Augmented_and_Virtual_Reality.pdf
- Shockley, K. M., Gabriel, A. S., Robertson, D., Rosen, C. C., Chawla, N., Ganster, M. L., & Ezerins, M. E. (2021). The fatiguing effects of camera use in virtual meetings: A within-person field experiment. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *106*(8), 1137-1155. doi: 10.1037/apl0000948
- Smith, P. H. (2021). The role of virtual reality in criminal justice pedagogy: An examination of mental illness occurring in corrections. *Journal of Criminal Justice Education*, 32(2), 252-271. doi: 10.1080/10511253.2021.1901948
- Spiel, K., Hornecker, E., Williams, R. M., & Good, J. (2022). ADHD and Technology Research Investigated by Neurodivergent Readers. In *Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '22)*, April 29-May 5, 2022, New Orleans, LA. doi: 10.1145/3491102.3517592
- Sullivan, D. H., Chapman, M., & Mullen, P. E. (2008). Videoconferencing and forensic mental health in Australia. *Behavioral Sciences & the Law*, 26(3), 323-331. doi: 10.1002/bsl.815
- Sygel, K., Kristiansson, M., Furberg, R. & Fors, U. (2014). Reactions on Display/Intimate Partner Violence (RoD/IPV) A study of a new interactive computer simulation program

- for the treatment of men convicted of intimate partner violence. *International Journal of Forensic Mental Health*, 13, 369-380. doi: 10.1080/14999013.2014.951104
- Thaler, O., Barkworth, J., & Howard, M. (2022). *Implementing digital technologies in prisons: A qualitative study of inmate experiences*. Research Bulletin. New South Wales, Australia: Corrective Services NSW. Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Mark-Howard18/publication/365783148_Implementing_digital_technologies_in_prisons_A_qualitative_study_of_inmate_experiences/links/638406417b0e356feb8fee37/Implementing-digital-technologies-in-prisons-A-qualitative-study-of-inmate-experiences.pdf
- Ticknor, B. (2019). Virtual reality and correctional rehabilitation: A game changer. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 46(9), 1319-1336. doi: 10.1177/0093854819842588
- Ticknor, B. & Tillinghast, S. (2011). Virtual reality and the criminal justice system: New possibilities for research, training, and rehabilitation. *Journal of Virtual Worlds Research*, 4(1), 3-43. doi: 10.4101/jvwr.v4i2.2071
- Tolbert, M., Hudson, J., & Erwin, H. C. (2015). *Educational Technology in Corrections 2015*. United States Department of Education. Retrieved from: http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ovae/pi/AdultEd/policybriefedtech.pdf
- Topale, L. (2016). The strategic use of lecture recordings to facilitate an active and self-directed learning approach. *BMC Medical Education*, 16(201), 1-9. doi: 10.1186/s12909-016-0723-0
- Tuente, S. K., Bogaerts, S., Bulten, E., Keulen-de Vos, M., Vos, M., Bokern, H., van Ijzendoorn, S., Geraets, C. N. W., & Veling, W. (2020). Virtual Reality Aggression Prevention Therapy (VRAPT) versus waiting list control for forensic psychiatric inpatients: A multicenter randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 9(7), 1-18. doi: 10.3390/jcm9072258
- Tuente, S. K., Bogaerts, S., van Ijzendoorn, S., & Veling, W. (2018). Effect of Virtual Reality Aggression Prevention Training for forensic psychiatric patients (VRAPT): Study protocol of a multi-center RCT. *BMC psychiatry*, *18*(1), 1-9. doi: 10.3390/jcm9072258
- Walters, S. T., Ondersma, S. J., Ingersoll, K. S., Rodriguez, M., Lerch, J., Rossheim, M. E., Taxman, F. S. (2014). MAPIT: Development of a web-based intervention targeting substance abuse treatment in the criminal justice system. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 46, 60-65. doi: 10.1016/j.jsat.2013.07.003

- Ward T., Day A., Howells K., & Birgden A. (2004). The multifactor offender readiness model. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 9(6), 645–673. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2003.08.001
- Wardrop, K., Sheahan, C., Hodges, J., & McKendy, L. (2022). *Using technology to deliver community-based correctional programs: A pilot study*. Research Report R-438. Ottawa, Ontario: Correctional Service of Canada. https://www.csc-scc.gc.ca/research/005008-r438-en.shtml
- Wardrop, K., & Sheahan, C. (2019). *The Use of Technology in the Delivery of Correctional Intervention Programs: A Rapid Review*. Research Report R-423. Ottawa, Ontario: Correctional Service of Canada. https://www.csc-scc.gc.ca/research/r-423-en.shtml
- Washington State Department of Corrections. (2022). *PRESS RELEASE: Washington State Department of Corrections announces Securus Technologies as vendor for incarcerated individual technology services*. Retrieved from: https://www.doc.wa.gov/news/2022/05032022p.htm
- Wilson, H., Palk, G., Sheehan, M., Wishart, D., Watson, B. (2017). Steering clear of driving after drinking: A tailored e-Health intervention for reducing repeat offending and modifying alcohol use in a high-risk cohort. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 24, 694-702. doi: 1007/s12529-017-9664-1
- Young, S., Gudjonsson, G., Chitsabesan, P., Colley, B., Farrag, E., Forrester, A., Hollingdale, J., Kim, K., Lewis, A., Maginn, S., Mason, P., Ryan, S., Smith, J., Woodhouse, E., & Asherson, P. (2018). Identification and treatment of offenders with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in the prison population: A practical approach based upon expert consensus. *BMC Psychiatry*, *18*(281), 1-16. doi: 10.1186/s12888-018-1858-9
- Young, S., Moss, D., Sedgwick, O., Fridman, M., & Hodgkins, P. (2015). A meta-analysis of the prevalence of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in incarcerated populations. *Psychological Medicine*, 45(2), 247-58. doi: 10.1017/S0033291714000762
- Young, S., Wells, J., & Gudjonsson, G. H. (2011). Predictors of offending among prisoners: The role of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder and substance use. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, 25(11), 1524-32. doi: 10.1177/0269881110370502
- Zelihic, M. (2014). Relationship building in the online classroom. *Developments in Business Simulation and Experiential Learning*, 42, 215-219.